THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY AND DARLINGTON
Circuit Court

J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 07-CP-40-0576

J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 40-CP-16-0332
Appellant Case No. 2013-001461

Ex Parte: Douglas N. Truslow, Respondent,

Ex Parte: Tony R. Megna, Appellant,

In re:

James Anasti, Plaintiff,

v.

Lance Wilson, Willis Goodwin, Gina L. Anasti Lee and Richland County Clerk of
Court, Defendants.

And

Ex Parte: Desa Ballard, Respondent,

Ex Parte: Tony R. Megna, Appellant,

In re:

Pee Dee Health Care, P.A., Plaintiff,

v.

Estate of Hugh S. Thompson, Defendant.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

RECEIVED

Issues on Appeal

- I. Did the lower court err in holding that Appellant's service of discovery violated the order of disqualification in the Thompson case because that order was the subject of a motion to alter or amend and thus not yet final?
- II. Did the lower court err in finding that the discovery sought by Appellant was frivolous?
- III. Did the lower court err in allowing Truslow to proceed on a motion for sanctions filed more than ten days after remittitur of the Anasti case?
- IV. Did the lower court err in finding Appellant's discovery efforts as improper because discovery was necessary to contest the sanctions and there was no order limiting discovery?
- V. Did the lower court err in awarding sanctions to Ballard because South Carolina law provides that an attorney proceeding pro se is not entitled to attorney's fees?
- VI. Did the lower court err in finding that Appellant misused the discovery process in Thompson to pursue discovery in Anasti?
- VII. Did the lower court err in finding Appellant had no good-faith basis to subpoena Ballard, who agreed to represent Appellant and Pee Dee, while at the same time consulting with attorneys who were directly adverse to Appellant and Pee Dee?

Statement of the Case

This appeal involves two separate cases in two different counties. James Anasti v. Lance Wilson et al. (“the Anasti case”) was a case that originated in Richland County Circuit Court. Pee Dee Health Care v. Estate of Thompson (“the Thompson case”) challenged the denial of a probate claim and was filed in Florence County Circuit Court. Appellant Tony R. Megna served as counsel for Defendant Gina Anasti in the Richland case and as counsel for Plaintiff Pee Dee Health Care (“Pee Dee”) in the Florence case.

RICHLAND/ANASTI CASE

In Anasti, attorney Doug Truslow (“Truslow”) brought suit on behalf of his client, James Anasti, against several defendants, including Appellant’s client Gina Lee. (R. 90-119). The Circuit Court granted summary judgment to Anasti, and Gina Lee, though Appellant appealed to this Court.¹ After the Court of Appeals dismissed Gina Lee’s appeals, Truslow filed a Motion in this Court seeking sanctions against Appellant. (R. 368-420). The attachments to the Motion for sanctions indicates that Truslow conferred with attorney Desa Ballard on the matter starting in 2008 and conferred with attorneys and parties in the Florence litigation (Jay James and Rene Josey.) Id. Truslow also conferred with attorneys (Celeste Jones and Bobby Stepp) that are representing parties in other litigation in which Appellant and Pee Dee are involved. Id. The Court of Appeals denied Truslow’s motion for sanctions. (R. 64-66).

¹ Gina Lee actually appealed two orders of the Circuit Court which were consolidated for appeal. She also filed for Bankruptcy which resulted in a stay of the appeal for a short period.

The Anasti appeal was remitted to the Circuit Court on October 7, 2011. (R. 72). On November 22, 2011, Truslow filed a motion for sanctions against Appellant in the Circuit Court. (R. 441-443). In this motion, Truslow sought damages and sanctions against Appellant that were expected to exceed \$500,000.00. *Id.* Truslow requested a status conference as to the motion where he indicated that he planned to call several witnesses as to the amount of damages: Desa Ballard, Rene Josey, Celeste Jones, and Bobby Stepp. (R.1181-1183; 241-260). The Honorable James R. Barber found that Truslow should be limited to two or three witnesses. Judge Barber did not impose any other limitations.

Following the status conference, Appellant served 11 interrogatories and 13 requests for production on Truslow and noticed witness depositions, in order to determine the specific damages that Truslow claimed amounted to \$500,000.00. Truslow moved to quash the discovery requests and for sanctions. (R. 490-508 and R. 441-443).

The matter was assigned to the Honorable J. Michael Baxley, along with the Thompson case (which is discussed below). (R. 1198-1216). Judge Baxley's stated intention was to hold a consolidated hearing, and he also found that no live testimony was necessary. *Id.* Instead, Judge Baxley requested that any necessary evidence be presented by affidavit. *Id.*

Judge Baxley held a hearing on May 16, 2012 (R. 261-313). Appellant, through his counsel, submitted a Memorandum in opposition to the sanctions. (R. 818-1029). Judge Baxley heard arguments of counsel, but no witnesses testimony was taken. (R. 261-313). Appellant also submitted a supplemental memorandum after the hearing (R. 1030-1054).

By order dated February 13, 2013, the Circuit Court awarded Truslow \$31,842.39 in fees and costs. (R. 90-119).² Appellant filed a motion to alter to amend, which was denied on June 12, 2013. (R. 1065-1071; 120-127). This appeal followed.

FLORENCE/THOMPSON CASE

In the Thompson case, Pee Dee sought to recover reimbursement for losses created by the actions of the Decedent, Hugh Thompson, while he was employed by Pee Dee.³ The Defendant Estate was originally represented by attorney Jay James.⁴ Mr. James then associated attorney Rene Josey of Turner Padgett Graham and Laney, P.A. However, Mr. Josey's partner, Brad Hylton, had been representing Pee Dee on a workers' compensation case that had been ongoing since 1994. Pee Dee notified Mr. Josey of the conflict and refused to waive it. Ultimately, Turner Padgett unilaterally withdrew from representation in Pee Dee's worker's compensation case, and continued representing the Defendant Estate in the Florence case. Pee Dee sought disqualification of Josey while the Thompson case

² On July 26, 2012, Judge Baxley issued a preliminary ruling in a letter to counsel, in which he not only granted the motions of Truslow and Ballard, but sua sponte found that Appellant had violated a court order which warranted additional sanctions of thirty days in jail. (R. 1298-1302). After objection by Appellant's counsel, Judge Baxley recognized that due process required that Appellant be given a hearing on that issue. (R. 314-339).

³ After Thompson left Pee Dee's employment, Pee Dee was notified by Medicare that it owed more than \$200,000 for "overpayments" because Thompson, who had been suspended from participation in the program at one point, had not been reinstated by the Medicare Office at the time the Medicare payments for Thompson's services had been made.

⁴ These facts are drawn from the appeal of Pee Dee Health Care, P.A., v. Estate of Hugh Thompson, 10-CP-16-0332, which the appellant there moved this Court, on August 24, 2011, to disqualify Mr. Josey and his firm (SR. 58-72). Appellant has not included all of the Record on Appeal from that case but for any records not so included, the Court can take judicial notice of them. *See, Freeman v. McBee*, 280 S.C. 490, 494, 313 S.E.2d 325, 327 (Ct.App.1984). ("A court can take judicial notice of its own records, files and proceedings for all proper purposes including facts established in its records.")

was on appeal, but ultimately, the Court of Appeals refused to disqualify Josey from representing that defendant.

The Defendant Estate moved to disqualify Mr. Megna on the grounds that he was a necessary witness.⁵ The Circuit Court granted the Motion by Order dated April 15, 2011, but provided an exception that Appellant would be permitted to argue the pending Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 55-63). On May 2, 2011, Appellant filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the order of disqualification under Rule 59(e), SCRPC. (R 67). Upon denial of that Motion (R. 67-68), Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal of the disqualification. While that appeal was pending, the Circuit Court granted the Defendant Estate's Motion for Summary Judgment. Appellant filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the summary judgment order on behalf of Pee Dee. The Court denied the motion and Pee Dee appealed that order.⁶

In 2010, while the Thompson case was pending and Anasti was on appeal, Appellant contacted Desa Ballard regarding representation of himself, Pee Dee, and others in litigation arising out of Lake City, South Carolina (the "Lake City litigation") (R. 1165-1167). On October 15, 2010, Ballard's partner sent Appellant an email, indicating that the packet of information he sent was under review by Ballard and indicated their offer to represent Appellant and others for an hourly fee. Id. Ballard did not disclose at that time that she had been working with Truslow on the Anasti case, and on matters directly adverse to Appellant, and that as a part of that case, Truslow and Ballard had conferred with Rene

⁵ Appellant is the CEO of Pee Dee.

⁶ On July 3, 2013, this Court issued an unpublished opinion on both of those appeals (as well as a third appeal) that had been consolidated for purposes of oral argument. The Opinion declined to reverse the Circuit Court's orders. Appellant intends to file a petition for certiorari on the disqualification issue.

Josey and Jay James in the Thompson case (as well as Celeste Jones and Bobby Stepp in the Lake City litigation), whose interests were adverse to Pee Dee. Id.

On May 9, 2011, Ballard provided an affidavit to Truslow in the Anasti case, for Truslow's Motion for Sanctions filed in the Court of Appeals. (SR. 81-83). It was only at this time that Appellant learned of Ballard's involvement with Truslow (and others). On July 27, 2011, Appellant issued a subpoena, under the Thompson caption, to Ballard requesting certain documentation to determine the context of her conversations with Rene Josey and other attorneys that were adverse to Appellant and/or Pee Dee in the Thompson case and in the Lake City litigation. (R. 424-433). Ballard filed an objection and moved for sanctions. (R. 436-440).

On August 12, 2011, Judge Baxley denied Appellant's Motion to alter or amend the disqualification. Judge Baxley also considered Ballard's Motion to Quash and granted it, but did not address sanctions. Appellant appealed the disqualification issue. However, Ballard did not cross appeal, or file a Rule 59(e) motion regarding the Circuit Court's failure to award sanctions.

Ballard later sought a hearing in the Circuit Court on her motion for sanctions. This matter was also assigned to Judge Baxley. (R. 1198-1216). The hearing on Ballard's motion (as well as the hearing on Truslow's motion in the Anasti case) took place on May 15, 2012. (R. 261-313). Appellant's counsel appeared to oppose the sanctions, and submitted a memorandum in opposition (R. 818-1030).⁷ By Order dated February 13, 2013, Judge Baxley awarded \$17,388.75 to Ballard. (R. 77-89). Appellant moved to alter or

⁷ In addition, the Supplemental Reply to Anasti's Motion to Quash, dated May 29, 2012 (R. 1030-1054), also addressed the issues raised by Ballard at the hearing.

amend. (R. 1065-1071). Judge Baxley did change the amount awarded to \$15,998.75 to reflect a billing error by Ballard, but declined to otherwise alter the Order. (R. 128-133). This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing judge's order of sanctions, the appellate court takes its own view of the facts. Father v. S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs., 353 S.C. 254, 260–61, 578 S.E.2d 11, 14 (2003). “[W]here the appellate court agrees with the trial court's findings of fact, it reviews the decision to award sanctions, as well as the terms of those sanctions, under an abuse of discretion standard.” Id. at 261, 578 S.E.2d at 14. An abuse of discretion occurs where the decision is controlled by an error of law or is based on unsupported factual conclusions. Id.

ARGUMENT

I. The lower court erred in finding that Appellant’s service of discovery violated the order of disqualification in the Thompson case because that order was the subject of a motion to alter or amend and thus not yet final.

Judge Baxley’s order states that Appellant “violated previous Court orders that disqualified him as counsel in the [Thompson] case...” (R. 79). The Order disqualifying Appellant in the Thompson case was filed April 19, 2011 and received by Appellant on April 21, 2103. Appellant then filed a motion to alter or amend, under Rule 59(e), SCRCP on May 2, 2011. The filing of that motion divested the order of its finality and enforceability. *See, Southeastern Housing Found. v. Smith*, 380 S.C. 621, 640, 670 S.E.2d 680, 690 (Ct. App. 2008) (indicating that a Rule 59(e) motion removes the finality of the challenged judgment); Coward Hund Const. Co., Inc. v. Ball Corp., 336 S.C. 1, 3, 518 S.E.2d 56, 58 (Ct.App.1999)(court’s denial of the first motion for reconsideration restored the finality of the summary judgment motion); 12 James W. Moore et al., *Moore's Federal*

Practice ¶ 59.37 and 59.36 (3d ed. 1999) (When a court alters a judgment, the party aggrieved by the alteration may ask for correction. If the trial court denies such a motion, the finality of the judgment is restored and the appeal time begins to run from the date the order is entered.)

The subpoena on Ballard (under the Thompson caption) was served on July 30, 2011.⁸ The Circuit Court did not rule on the Motion to Alter or Amend the disqualification order until August 15, 2011, after the discovery had been sent. Because the disqualification order had been divested of enforceability as a matter of law once the Motion to Alter or Amend was filed, Appellant was not in violation of any court order when he served the subpoena on Ballard.

II. The lower court erred in finding that the discovery sought by Appellant was frivolous where the Court of Appeals had already considered the same allegations and rejected them.

Our case law is very clear that an unappealed ruling, “right or wrong, is the law of the case....” Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 255 S.C. 159, 161, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (1970). This applies even in cases on appeal: “...the disposition of a case in the Court of Appeals when certiorari is not applied for nor granted becomes the law of the case.” Barth v. Barth, 293 S.C. 305, 308, 360 S.E.2d 309, 310 (1987).

In 2011, the Anasti case was pending before this Court. After the Court dismissed the appeals, Truslow filed a motion for sanctions against Appellant (R. 368-421).

This court denied the Motion on May 20, 2011. Truslow did not seek reconsideration of

⁸ Appellant served discovery on Truslow and subpoenas on Truslow’s witnesses in the Anasti case on March 8, 2012 in response to Truslow’s assertion of damages in the amount of \$500,000. Since Appellant was never disqualified in the Anasti case, he cannot have been in violation of any court order in serving such discovery.

that order, nor did he pursue the matter in a further appeal. Thus, any of the conduct on which Truslow based his motion on in this Court has been rejected and cannot form the basis for sanctions in this case.

The matter was remitted to the Circuit Court on October 7, 2011. On November 21, 2011, Truslow filed a new motion in Circuit Court that was entitled "Amended Motion for Rule 11, SCRCP." Truslow stated that the original sanctions motion was filed on November 7, 2007, but had not been heard due to the appeal. (R. 441). However, Truslow failed to inform the Circuit Court that this Court had considered a Motion for Sanctions and denied it. This Amended Motion asserted that the damages and sanctions were now expected to exceed \$500,000. The Amended Motion also cited, as grounds for the sanctions, the fact that the appeals had been determined adversely to Appellant's client, but again, failed to mention that he moved for sanctions with regard to the appellate matter, but this Court had denied that motion. As noted, under the law of the case doctrine, any of the alleged sanctionable conduct on which Truslow's motion in this Court was based (and denied), cannot form the basis for the Amended Motion in the Circuit Court.

Moreover, the Amended Motion did not include any support for this claim of damages/sanctions in the amount of \$500,000.⁹ In a footnote, the Amended Motion purported to "supplement the prior motion so as to make clear that the sanctions are not sought against Defendant Lee..." but only against Appellant. The prior motion filed in 2007, to which this Footnote refers, did not specify the amount of sanctions sought.¹⁰ Thus,

⁹ Thus, it is unclear as to whether Truslow was trying to include the \$183,000 he sought in this Court that had already been rejected.

¹⁰ Furthermore, while Truslow styled his motion as an "amended" motion, it is, in actuality, as completely separate motion than the original sanctions motions filed in 2007, as Judge Baxley recognized: "Prior to Megna's first appeal, Truslow filed a Rule 11

Appellant was entitled to contest the damages/sanctions sought, especially in light of the fact that the Court of Appeals had already denied Truslow's Motion requesting an assessment of \$183,000, yet upon remand, Truslow sought more than double that amount.

III. The lower court erred in allowing Truslow to proceed on a motion for sanctions filed more than ten days after remittitur of the Anasti case.

After remittitur, a circuit court reacquires jurisdiction "to enforce the judgment and take any action consistent with the appellate court's ruling." Bunkum v. Manor Properties, 321 S.C. 95, 98-99, 467 S.E.2d 758, 760 (Ct. App. 1996). See also, Christy v. Christy, 317 S.C. 145, 151, 452 S.E.2d 1, 4 (Ct. App. 1994) ("The final disposition of a case occurs when the remittitur is returned by the clerk of the appellate court and filed in the lower court."). Furthermore, all post-judgment motions, including those for sanctions, must be filed within ten days of receipt of notice of the entry of an order. Rule 59, SCRCP; Pitman v. Republic Leasing Co., Inc., 351 S.C. 429, 432-33, 570 S.E.2d 187, 189-90 (Ct. App. 2002) (holding that a motion for sanction must be made within ten days under Rule 59); Cox v. Fleetwood Homes of Ga., Inc., 334 S.C. 55, 58, 512 S.E.2d 498, 500 (1999) (trial judge loses jurisdiction after the time for post-trial motions has elapsed).

In the Anasti case, the dismissal of Gina Lee's appeals and the remittitur to the Circuit Court constitutes a final judgment. See, Bunkum and Christy, *supra*. Here, the remittitur was issued on October 7, 2011, but Truslow's motion was not filed until November 21, 2011 – much more than ten days after the remittitur. As it was untimely, the lower court no longer had jurisdiction to consider the matter. Pitman, *supra*. Since the motion itself was improper, Appellant's conduct in responding to the motion should not

sanctions motion against Lee and Megna. **That motion has not been heard and is not addressed by this Order....**" (R. 90-119) (emphasis added).

constitute sanctionable conduct. Thus, the order granting the motion was an abuse of discretion and must be vacated.

IV. The lower court erred in finding Appellant's discovery efforts as improper because discovery was necessary to contest the sanctions and there was no order limiting discovery.

As a matter of due process, Appellant must be afforded an adequate opportunity to contest the sanctions. *See, e.g., In re Kunstler*, 914 F.2d 505, 522 (4th Cir. 1990) (“We find that appellants were not given an adequate opportunity to respond to the type and amount of sanction imposed, *particularly in light of the large monetary sanction.*”) (emphasis added).

Here, the Amended Motion, filed November 21, 2011, for sanctions sought more than \$500,000 in damages and sanctions from Appellant. This amount was over twice as much as Truslow sought in the Court of Appeals (and which was denied). There was no affidavit or other attachment indicating how this enormous sum was reached. The only method by which Appellant could contest the sanctions and the large monetary amount was through discovery to determine the how the amount was calculated.

At the status conference on January 18, 2012, before the Honorable James R. Barber, Truslow provided a preliminary witness list for his motion that included Desa Ballard, Tom Earle, Curtis Dowling, Rene Josey, Celeste Jones, and Steve Licata. In addition, by letter dated January 9, 2102, Truslow listed as: Desa Ballard, Rene Josey, Celeste Jones and Bobby Stepp. (R. 241-260). Appellant was entitled to depose those witnesses in order to adequately contest the sanctions. While the lower court did limit the number of witnesses Truslow could call,¹¹ it put no restrictions on discovery. Furthermore,

¹¹ The lower court, through Judge Baxley, ultimately ordered that no witness testimony would be permitted and only allowed affidavits of Truslow and Ballard.

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