STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM DARLINGTON COUNTY
J. MICHAEL BAXLEY, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE
TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 2010-CP-16-0332
APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001461

Ex Parte: Douglas N. Truslow, Respondent,

Ex Parte: Tony R. Megna, Appellant

In re:

James Anasti, Plaintiff

Vs.

Lance Goodwin, Willis Goodwin, Gina L. Anasti Lee,
And Richland County of Clerk of Court Defendants

And

Ex Parte: Desa Ballard Respondent,

Ex Parte: Tony R. Megna, Appellant

In re:

Pee Dee Health Care P.A., Plaintiff.

Vs.

Estate of Hugh S. Thompson, Defendant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT DESA BALLARD

Desa Ballard, *Pro Se*
Post Office Box 6338
West Columbia, SC 29171
Bar No. 000498

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

Ballard is not a party to either of these actions, nor does she represent any of the parties to these actions. In 2007, attorney Douglas Truslow began consulting with her for advice concerning his responsibilities regarding unprofessional behavior exhibited by Tony Megna (hereafter “Megna”), who was opposing counsel to Mr. Truslow in a Richland County case. *Anasti v. Wilson et al.*, Case No. 2007-CP-40-00576. (R. p. 283, line 23 – p. 284, line 14).

In October, 2010, Megna telephoned Ballard’s partner Stephanie Weissenstein and told her he wanted to consult the firm on a case involving “people who are rather connected.” (R. p. 1193). When Ballard was advised of the inquiry, she advised Ms. Weissenstein that the firm wanted nothing to do with Megna or any case in which he was involved. (R p. 290, lines 17- p. 291, line 10). Ms. Weissenstein⁵ advised Megna the firm would look at his matter at our regular hourly rate, which usually discourages casual inquiries. (*Id.*) Ballard’s firm did not review the materials from Megna. (R. p. 290, line 21 – p. 291, line 10). The materials sent by Megna to Ms. Weissenstein were not introduced into evidence before Judge Baxley, so the only evidence of record regarding the content of these materials is Ballard’s statement that their content did not relate to the

⁵ The transcript of the May 16, 2012 hearing erroneously states that Ballard’s partner is “Ms. Rogers.” (R. p. 290, line 24).

matter she was handling for Truslow and did not create a conflict of interest. (R. p. 31, lines 3-8)⁶.

On July 30, 2011, Ballard received a subpoena from Megna in a case captioned in Darlington County involving Pee Dee Health Care. (R. pp. 424 - 433). She inquired into the matter and learned that Megna had earlier been disqualified as counsel in the Pee Dee Health Care case. (R. p. 285, lines 2-5). Ballard filed and served an objection to the subpoena and a motion for sanctions. (R. pp. 436 - 439; pp. 1091-1093).

Shortly thereafter, an individual named Mark Matthews filed a grievance against Ballard and others with the Office of Disciplinary Counsel. (R. pp. 1184 - 1197). Ballard researched the identity of Mark Matthews and determined he was somehow related to Pee Dee Health Care, which was the party on whose behalf Megna had attempted to subpoena her. *Id.* After Judge Baxley scheduled a hearing on her motion for sanctions, Ballard filed a redacted⁷ copy of the complaint from Mark Matthews as an exhibit to her motion for sanctions. *Id.* Mr. Matthews filed a second complaint against her, which she also filed with the Darlington clerk as an exhibit to the motion for sanctions. (R. pp. 1272 - 1292).

As the hearing approached, Megna sent voluminous documents which required review. (R. pp. 1217-1271). As required by the notice from Judge Baxley (R. pp. 1198-1199), Ballard submitted an affidavit outlining the time spent in filing the motions and

⁶ Judge Baxley also concluded that the argument about Megna's attempt to communicate with Ballard did not constitute a conflict of interest preventing her from continuing to assist Truslow. (R. p. 82, footnote 2).

⁷ The original complaint sent to Office of Disciplinary Counsel by Mark Matthews complained about many lawyers. Before filing the complaint with the circuit court as an exhibit, Ballard redacted all information from the document except that portion which related to her. (R. pp. 1184 - 1192).

preparing for the hearing, including anticipated travel time for the hearing. (R. pp. 1133-1144). Following the hearing and Judge Baxley's letter dated July 26, 2012, she submitted an amended affidavit which deleted the accounting of the time she spent in responding to the grievances filed against her by Mr. Matthews and included additional time incurred in the matter since the hearing.. (R. pp. 1145-1155).

Judge Baxley granted Ballard's motion for sanctions by order dated February 11, 2012. (R. p. 77). Megna sought reconsideration, which was denied (with the exception of a request by Ballard to reduce the sanctions awarded to her). (R. pp. 128-133). This appeal followed.

Issue One

The lower court erred in finding that Appellant's service of discovery violated the order of disqualification in the Thompson case because that order was the subject of a motion to alter or amend and thus not yet final.

This issue was not raised in any of the pre-hearing filings or at the hearing before Judge Baxley and is therefore not preserved for appeal before this Court. *Bean v. SC Central Railroad Co. Inc.*, 392 S.C.532 709 S.E.2d 99 (Ct.App. 2011)⁸. This issue was raised for the first time in Megna's motion for reconsideration. (R. p. 1065, paragraph (a)). Judge Baxley declined to hear argument on this issue, and "no objection was made to the notice or limitation." (R. p. 129, footnote 1). The issue was not argued in the reconsideration hearing, even though Judge Baxley gave everyone an opportunity to "place a comment on the record about the issues, the reduction of issues, or the matters that are before us today." (Supp. R. p 30, lines 11-14).

Before allowing argument, Judge Baxley offered a second time for Megna's counsel to address any issues other than the amount of the sanctions. (Supp. R. p 31, lines 16-19). Megna's counsel made no objections to Judge Baxley's decision that argument was limited to the amount of sanctions which had been awarded against Megna.

⁸ Megna did argue in his Memorandum that Ballard's hearing could not proceed because the order of disqualification was on appeal. (R.p. 818). His memorandum stated "[t]he Court of Appeals has held all other matters in abeyance until the disqualification matter is determined." The reference is to Exhibit N. Exhibit N begins on unnumbered Page 192 of Megna's Memorandum (R.p. 1009), and contains: (1) a letter from J. Rene Josey dated 4-19-2011 serving Judge Baxley's order dated 4-15-2011; (2) Letter from Judge Baxley to J. Rene Josey dated April 15, 2011 enclosing the original order with a request for Mr. Josey to arrange for filing and service; (3) Mr. Josey's certificate of service as to the order; and (4) Order of Judge Baxley dated 4-15-2011, filed 4-18-2011 disqualifying Mr. Megna from serving as counsel in the *Pee Dee Health Care Case*. The next page is the Cover Sheet for Exhibit O. (R.p. 1022). There is no order from the Court of Appeals contained in Exhibit N.

(Supp. R. p. 31 line 20 – p. 32, line 3). Mr. Truslow raised several procedural issues “that may have barred the Court’s consideration of the Motions for reconsideration, and those objections were noted but not necessary to be ruled upon.” (R. pp. 129-130).

Even though Judge Baxley limited the argument and did not expressly address Mr. Truslow’s procedural arguments, he “considered all issues raised by the motions for reconsideration and concluded all to be without merit.” (R. p. 130). Nonetheless, since this issue was not raised until the motion for reconsideration, it is not preserved for review. *Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 392 S.E.2d 481 (Ct.App. 1990).

Judge Baxley’s ruling on the merits of this issue on reconsideration did not preserve it for appeal. “A party cannot use Rule 59 (e), SCRCP, to present to the trial court an issue the party could have raised prior to judgment but did not.” *Crary v. Djebelli*, 321 S.C. 38, 43, 467 S.E.2d 1128, 131-32 (Ct.App. 1995) *reversed on other grounds* 329 S.C. 385, 496 S.E.2d 21 (1998). *See also Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 529 S.E.2d 543 (2000).

Megna’s argument that the pendency of a motion pursuant to Rule 59 (e) somehow suspends the validity of a judgment is not supported by any law. The cases cited by him do not so hold. Megna argues that filing of the motion “divested the order of its finality and enforceability,” citing *Southeastern Housing Foundation v. Smith*, 380 S.C. 621, 670 S.E.2d 680 (Ct.App. 2008) and *Coward Hund Construction Co. Inc. v. Ball Corp.*, 336 S.C. 1, 518 S.E.2d 56 (Ct.App. 1999).

The first case, *Southeastern*, discussed whether the filing of a motion for relief under Rule 59, SCRCP suspends the one-year deadline set forth in Rule 60, SCRCP, for

seeking relief from a judgment. In concluding that the Rule 59, SCRCP motion stayed the one-year period for seeking relief under Rule 60, SCRCP, the Supreme Court did state that “while a 59(e) motion is pending . . . the finality of the challenged judgment has been removed. . .” it did so only in the context of deciding when the time begins to run for the filing of a Rule 60, SCRCP motion. *Southeastern Housing Foundation, supra*, 380 S.C. @ 640. The decision in *Coward* addressed only whether a second motion for reconsideration stayed the time for appeal. *Coward Hund Construction Co., supra*, 336 S.C. @ 2.

A “judgment” is “effective” when “entered.” Rule 58(a)(2), SCRCP. A judgment is effective “the moment. . . [the order] is filed by the clerk of court, it becomes the judgment of the court, and fixes the right of the parties.” *Upchurch v. Upchurch*, 367 S.C. 16, 22-23, 624 S.E.2d 643 (2006). *See also Doe v. Doe*, 324 S.C. 492, 478 S.E.2d 854 (Ct.App. 1996). “The final written order contains the binding instructions which are to be followed by the parties.” *Corbin v. Kohler Co.*, 351 S.C. 613, 621, 571 S.E.2d 92, 97 (Ct.App. 2002).

Under Megna’s theory, the order disqualifying him was, in fact, final when it was entered on April 19, 2011, but became “unfinal” when he filed motions for reconsideration under Rule 59 (e), SCRCP. According to Megna’s initial brief, he filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCP motion on May 2, 2011, and the motion was denied on August 15, 2011. (Appellant’s Initial Brief p. 8). Under this theory, the order of disqualification of Megna was effective on and off, at his whim and within his sole control, as follows:

- From the date of issue (R.pp. 55-63), for twelve (12) days (until the Rule 59, SCRCP motion was filed) the order was final;

- Then the order became “unfinal” for a period of more than three months, until the judge issued his order denying reconsideration on August 15, 2011;
- The order became final again on August 15, 2011 when reconsideration was denied. (R.pp. 67-68)
- Megna’s appeal was filed on February 16, 2011, so the order was “unfinal” again for more than two (2) years, until this Court affirmed the disqualification by its decision issued July 3, 2013. *Pee Dee Health Care P.A. v. Hugh S. Thompson III et al.*, Unpublished Case No. 2013-UP-0311⁹. See Appellate Tracking No. 2011-1976711 and 2011-203391.
- The order became final on July 3, 2013 and remained final until July 18, 2013, when Megna made his next filing. *Id.*
- Megna caused the order to be “unfinal” again when he filed a Motion to Reconsider the July 3, 2013 decision of this Court¹⁰. *Id.*
- The disqualification became final again when this Court denied Megna’s Motion for Reconsideration on August 21, 2013. *Id.*
- Megna filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the South Carolina Supreme Court on September 9, 2013 challenging this Court’s decision in 2013-UP-0311. So, according to him, the disqualification became “unfinal” on that date and is not currently in effect. As of the date of this initial brief, that petition remains pending [petition denied 12-19-2013].

Megna argues that his motion for reconsideration “divested” the order of its “enforceability as a matter of law.” Stated differently, Megna is arguing that he had no obligation to comply with the order of disqualification on those days when he had filed

⁹ It is respondent’s position that the order constitutes “an order granting an injunction or temporary restraining order” such that there was no automatic stay during the earlier appeal (decided by this Court in 2013-UP-0311). Rule 241(b)(8), SCRPC. There is no provision of law which stays the effectiveness of the order during a Motion for Reconsideration. A judgment is a judgment.

¹⁰ In that motion for reconsideration, Megna argued before this Court the same issue he argues here: He can make the order “final” or “unfinal” based on when he files something challenging the ruling of disqualification. (Of Record, Appellate tracking No. 2011-197711 and 2011-203391)

something, anything at all, challenging the ruling, including today (since the Petition for Writ of Certiorari is currently pending). Megna's position is the disqualification is final only when he allows it to be.

Respondent Ballard respectfully disagrees.

The disobedience of any order, judgment or decree of a court having jurisdiction to issue it is a contempt of that court, however erroneous or improvident the issuing of it may have been. Such order is obligatory until reversed by an appellate court, or until corrected or discharged by the court which made it. But if, in making such order, the court was without jurisdiction, disobedience of is not a contempt."

(emphasis added). *State v. Nathans*, 49 S.C. 199, 27 S.E. 52 (1897). *See also Gainey v. Gainey*, 382 S.C. 414, 675 S.E.2d 792 (Ct.A[p. 2009])(discussing the distinction between a "void" judgment and one that is merely "voidable."); *Fryer v. South Carolina Law Enforcement Division*, 369 S.C. 395, 631 S.E.2d 918 (Ct.App. 2006)(discussing the obligation to obey a court order that is voidable until it is actually voided).

The only relief which Megna could obtain is to argue that the disqualification order was "void" at the time it was issued. *See Long v. McMillan*, 226 S.C. 598, 86 S.E.2d 477 (1955). Otherwise, he had to obey the order until it was reversed or until he obtained an order from a court with jurisdiction lifting the effect of the order. He did not do so.

Issue Two

The lower court erred in finding that the discovery sought by Appellant was frivolous where the Court of Appeals had already considered the same allegations and rejected them.

The Court of Appeals never reached any decision on the merits in the *Anasti* case. On the contrary, most of the *Anasti* appeal was devoted to determining whether Megna had been truthful with the various courts in which he made representations as to when or whether he received copies of orders or other documents. (R. p. 14; Supp. R. p. 1; Supp. R. p. 7;).

Since this Court dismissed the *Anasti* appeals on the basis that Megna had never timely filed the Notices or other documents, this court never obtained jurisdiction to decide any substantive issues. *Hill v. South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control*, 389 S.C. 1, 698 S.E.2d 612 (2010); *Holroyd v. Requa*, 361 S.C. 43, 603 S.E.2d 417 (Ct.App. 2004). Indeed, this Court expressly *advised the parties to the Anasti appeal that* “this Court will only consider [Megna’s] appeal from Judge Manning’s orders filed April 3, 2008 and April 1, 2009, at this time. Final briefs, therefore, shall include only those issues relating to the timeliness of [Megna]’s appeal” (Supp. R. pp. 7-8).

The only issues which are precluded by the prior appeal in *Anasti* is that Megna never timely filed his motions for reconsideration or his appeal in the prior appeal.

Moreover, according to Truslow’s Motion for Sanctions filed with this Court during the *Anasti* appeal, he sought “sanctions, damages, legal fees and costs caused by . . . Megna’s misconduct *in this frivolous appeal*.” (emphasis added.) Even if this Court

had decided Truslow's motion *on the merits*, the merits were limited to the conduct by Megna in the appeal before this Court. Judge Baxley's order sanctioned Megna for entirely different conduct. (R. p. 90).

The circuit court can consider attorney misconduct which during an appeal when assessing sanctions. Even if the Court of Appeals had addressed the merits of Megna's conduct during the trial court proceedings, sanctions by the circuit court for Megna's appellate misconduct may also be warranted. *Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp.*, Opinion 27324 (Supreme Court October 23, 2013), 2013 WL 5737705.

Issue Three

The lower court erred in allowing Truslow to proceed on a motion for sanctions filed more than ten days after remittitur of the *Anasti* case.

Respondent Ballard is not affected by this issue and does not address it on the merits here. However, she notes that it does not appear that this issue was raised by Megna to Judge Baxley in any of the pre-hearing filings (prior to the May 16, 2012 hearing) or at the hearing itself. The first mention of this issue of which Ballard is aware appears in Megna's Motion for Reconsideration dated 2-25-2013 (R. p. 1065).

For the reasons set forth in Issue One, *supra.*, this issue is not preserved.

Issue Four

The lower court erred in finding Appellant's discovery efforts as improper because discovery was necessary to contest the sanction and there was no order limiting discovery.

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